IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-1228

Woodbury County No. LACV190500

JACQUELINE STRUCK,

Petitioner/Appellant,

VS.

MERCY HEALTH SERVICES-IOWA CORP. SIOUX CITY A/K/A MERCY MEDICAL CENTER - SIOUX CITY, RODNEY J. DEAN, MD, ALBERT OKINE, PA, ROBBIE L. ROBINSON, NP, AND EILEEN MIDDLETON, PA, Respondents/Appellees,

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR WOODBURY COUNTY

THE HONORABLE ZACHARY HINDMAN

FINAL BRIEF FOR PETITIONER/APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT JACQUELINE STRUCK THOMP | PATTERMANN LAW OFFICE OF GALLNER & PATTERMANN, P.C. 300 w. Broadway, Ste. 145 Council Bluffs, IA 51503

T: (712) 323-0999

F: (712) 323-0814

E-mail: tjpattermann@sgallnerlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The District Court erred when it found Plaintiff's failure to file a certificate of merit under Iowa Code §147.140 was dispositive of all negligence claims made by the Plaintiff against Mercy Health Services and the various defendants, and dismissed all claims.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case presents issues involving the application of existing law as to the applicability of a certificate of merit, required by Iowa Code

§147.140, to all negligence claims, including general negligence for a premises liability claim, negligence by non-party staff, as well as professional negligence, negligent hiring and retention and supervision and the case should be transferred accordingly to the Court of Appeals. See Iowa R App P §6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petition in this matter was filed on January 24, 2020. App. 3-7. The Petition was served on the various defendants, Mercy Health Services- Iowa, Rodney J. Dean, MD, Albert Okine, PA, Jeremy J. Vande Zande, MD, and Eileen Middleton, PA. App 8-14. An application for alternative service as to Robbie Robinson, NP, to be served by publication was denied by the District Court. App. 25-38. A joint answer was filed by Rodney Dean, MD, Albert Okine, PA, and Eileen Middleton, PA, on February 19, 2020. Defendant Mercy Health Services filed and answer on March 12, 2020. Defendant Jeremy Vande Zande, MD, filed an answer on April 22, 2020. App. 39-43.

Due to the then developing pandemic, limited discovery was conducted prior the Defendants' motions to dismiss for failure to file a certificate of merit required by Iowa Code §147.140 were filed on May 12 and May 19, 2020. App. 44-50. Plaintiff filed a resistance to the motions

on May 22, and May 28, 2020. App. 51-52. Defendants filed substantially similar replies on June 2 and June 5, 2020. App. 55-57. A hearing was held on the motions on June 12, 2020. The District Court entered an Order August 22, 2020, dismissing the claims against Mercy Health Services-Iowa, Rodney J. Dean, MD, Albert Okine, PA, Jeremy J. Vande Zande, MD, and Eileen Middleton, PA. App. 67-96. A timely Notice of Appeal was then filed on September 21, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff, Jacqueline Struck, was a patient at Mercy Health Services (hereinafter "Mercy Medical Center") when she suffered personal injuries arising out of a fall at Mercy Medical Center on or about January 25, 2018. App. 3-7. Plaintiff is a resident of Iowa. The Defendant Mercy Medical Center is an Iowa corporation which owned and/or possessed the property where the fall occurred. It is additionally alleged that Mercy Medical Center hired and retained the other named Defendants and were also responsible for the actions of non-party staff and day-to-day operations at the property. App. 3-7. The Defendants Rodney J Dean, MD, Albert Okine, PA, Jeremy J. Vande Zande, MD, and Eileen Middleton, PA are licensed professionals who provided care for and/or were present at the time of Plaintiff's fall. App. 3-7. Plaintiff claims that in addition to

possible acts of professional negligence, she may also have been injured due to acts of general negligence by the named defendants or non-party staff in failing to take steps to protect Plaintiff from a fall and injury as well as negligence in ways not presently known to the Plaintiff. App. 3-7. The Plaintiff filed an action in Woodbury County on January 24, 2020. App. 3-7. The Petition was served on Defendants. The Defendants filed timely answers to the Petition.

Due to the then developing pandemic, limited discovery was conducted prior the Defendants' motions to dismiss for failure to file a certificate of merit required by Iowa Code §147.140 were filed on May 12 and May 19, 2020. App. 44-50. Plaintiff filed a resistance to the motions on May 22, and May 28, 2020. App. 51-54. Defendants filed substantially similar replies on June 2 and June 5, 2020. App. 55-57. A hearing was held on the motions on June 12, 2020. The District Court entered an Order August 22, 2020, dismissing the claims against Mercy Health Services-Iowa, Rodney J. Dean, MD, Albert Okine, PA, Jeremy J. Vande Zande, MD, and Eileen Middleton, PA. App. 67-96. A timely Notice of Appeal was then filed on September 21, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellate Court reviews a District Court's ruling on a motion to dismiss for errors at law. Iowa R.App. P. 4; *Meier v. SENECAUT III*, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002) Although not bound by the District Court's legal conclusions, the reviewing court is bound by the court's findings of fact if they are supported by substantial evidence. *McCormick v. Meyer*, 582 N.W.2d 141, 144 (Iowa 1998).

ERROR PRESERVATION

The matters in this appeal were timely preserved by the filing of the notice of appeal on September 21, 2020.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT ALL OF PLAINTIFF'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS SHOULD BE DISMISSED FOR FAILING TO SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLY WITH THE IOWA CODE § 147.140 CERTIFICATE OF MERIT REQUIREMENT.

Iowa is a notice pleading state and all doubts and ambiguities should have been resolved in Plaintiff's favor in addressing the motions to dismiss.

While the District Court provided a well-reasoned analysis for why the claims for professional negligence should be dismissed for failure to substantially comply with Iowa Code §147.140, it's analysis as to why all claims for negligent hiring, retention, supervision and general negligence

claims against the owner/occupier of property where the plaintiff fell and was injured went too far and was error. See *Lamantia v. Sojka*, 298 N.W.2d 245 (Iowa 1980). The ruling incorrectly presupposes that all of plaintiff's claims are against persons covered by Iowa Code §147.140. Certainly the named individual health care provider defendants are covered by Iowa Code §147.140 as to medical negligence claims. However, not all claims are based on those defendants' professional skills and in fact some claims are beyond the scope of §147.140 and do not rely on the defendants' professions. See *Lamantia v. Sojka*, 298 N.W.2d 245 (Iowa 1980)

The Motions to Dismiss were based on a relatively new code section intended to make claims against Iowa health care professionals more difficult, by granting an extra procedural protection beyond those already codified in Iowa law, by requiring plaintiffs to provide a causation opinion within a short time frame after service of the original notice. The motions in the case at bar, were not Motions for Summary Judgment filed after discovery was completed so as to flesh out all of the negligence claims plaintiff provided notice of when she filed her petition. *Id.*, but motions to Dismiss for failing to comply with the new code §147.140.

Lamantia addressed a case filed against employees of a municipality for which notice, then required under Iowa Code Chapter 613A.5, Iowa's tort claims act, was not provided. Much as the case here where the Certificate of Merit required under Iowa Code §147.140 is now required for professional negligence claims, was not filed. Lamantia v. Sojka, 298 N.W.2d 245 (Iowa 1980) In Lamantia, the District Court failed to take into account notice pleading and that claims outside Iowa's Tort Claims Act may be included in Plaintiff's petition under notice pleading. *Id.* So too here, the District Court erred when it failed to consider that tort claims outside those covered by Iowa Code §174.140 still exist, including claims under premises liability and respondent superior, wherein persons not covered by §147.140, acting on behalf of the defendants or under their direction and supervision, may have been negligent and responsible for plaintiff's damages. See *Id*.

Iowa is a notice pleading state. *Doerring v. Kramer*, 556 N.W.2d 816 (Ibwa App. 1996) As such Plaintiff must provide only a short and plain statement of the claim, she is not required to plead all of the facts. *Dudley v. GMT Corp.*, 541 N.W.2d 259, 261 (Iowa App. 1995). The Supreme Court has stated:

"Since the advent of notice pleading under Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 69(a), it is a rare case which will not survive a rule 104(b) motion. As a result, disposition of unmeritorious claims in advance of trial must now ordinarily be accomplished by other pretrial procedures which permit narrowing of the issues and piercing of the bare allegations contained in the petition."

Haupt v. Miller, 514 N.W.2d 905, 909 (Iowa 1994) (quoting American Nat'l Bank v. Sivers, 387 N.W.2d 138, 140 (Iowa 1986)). The Certificate of Merit is required to be filed within sixty (60) days of a defendant's answer which does not provide time for adequate discovery to flesh out the various claims of negligence referred to in plaintiff's petition and the District Court should not be thrust into the role of trying to determine any and all negligence claims a party may be intending, without the benefit of those theories being fleshed out in discovery. See Lamantia v. Sojka, 298 N.W.2d 245 (Iowa 1980)

The Defendants contention that one theory rather than another is evident in the pleading misses the point of notice pleading "if the prima facie elements of the claim are stated, and this statement is fair notice to a defendant, the petition is sufficient." See *Misco Leasing, Inc. v. Keller*, 490 F.2d 545, 548 (10th Cir. 1974) (stating the dimensions of suit are not determined by pleadings; pleading of theory of recovery not required). Under notice pleading, petition is only required to apprise a defendant

"of the incident out of which the claim arose and the general nature of the action." *Lamantia v. Sojka*, 298 N.W.2d 245 (Iowa 1980) (quoting *Roberts v. Acres*, 495 F.2d 57, 58 (7th Cir. 1974)). Contrary to the District Court's analysis, the expert testimony, anticipated by Iowa Code §147.140, is not necessary to establish a prima facie case for premises liability or negligent acts of non-professional staff employed by the Defendant Mercy Medical Center.

In its analysis, the *Lamantia* Court found the provisions for discovery are so flexible and the availability of pretrial procedure and summary judgment so effective, that any attempted surprise that was a concern, before notice pleading, is aborted very easily, false issues detected, and "the gravamen of the dispute brought frankly into the open for the inspection of the Court. The other remedies for defining issues in terms of their lowest common denominators are much more efficient and have the additional merit of advancing the case towards it ultimate resolution on the merits." *Lamantia v. Sojka*, 298 N.W.2d 245 (Iowa 1980)

As this was a Motion to Dismiss, the Plaintiff's claims should have been assessed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, and all doubts and ambiguities resolved in her favor. *Holsapple v. McGrath*, 521 N.W.2d 711, 712 (Iowa 1994) The Court is to look to the pleadings to determine

if they were so deficient plaintiff was deprived of notice of the claims made. Haupt v. Miller, 514 N.W.2d 905, 909 (Iowa 1994). In this case, the District Court erred in failing to resolve all doubts and ambiguities in the Plaintiff's favor. See *Doerring v. Kramer*, 556 N.W.2d 816, 818 (Iowa App. 1996) Instead it appears the District Court performed an analysis wherein doubts and ambiguities were resolved in the favor of all claims being covered by, or tied to §147.140. Under the District Court's analysis the myriad defendants were given the benefit of the doubt and the Court ignored the possibility of negligence claims pertaining to Plaintiff's falling on Mercy Medical Center's property while a patient there, despite Plaintiff's reference to non-party staff and negligence in ways not known to plaintiff at the time the petition was filed. These non-party staff, who would not be named in records available to plaintiff, could include, maintenance staff and others not covered by Iowa Code §147.140, over which Mercy Medical Center was responsible for their actions.

In *Doerring v. Kramer*, the District Court committed error when it dismissed a counter-claim filed by a party. On appeal the Court found that under Iowa's liberal notice pleading the counter claim should not have been dismissed. The Court found that "one reason for liberality in pleading requirements is the broad scope of various pretrial devices for

discovery of facts and formulation of issues." (Citing Kester v. Bruns, 326 N.W.2d 279, 284 (Iowa 1982)). Doerring v. Kramer, 556 N.W.2d 816 (lowa App. 1996) The case at bar involves a patient who fell while a patient in the Defendant, Mercy Medical Center. Professional negligence claims were alleged, but that does not mean that all negligent acts involved professional negligence as presumed by the District Court. Unfortunately, discovery was not allowed to be adequately conducted so as to determine what other actors or negligent acts may have been involved, as Defendants were quick to jump on a new procedural hurdle, Iowa Code §147.140, to try and prevent Plaintiff from pursuing her claim for personal injuries. The District Court should have dismissed the professional negligence claims, based on §147.140, only and allowed the case to continue for the broad scope of discovery to flesh out the facts, formulate the issues and determine the various theories of liability. Id. Instead the District Court erred and dismissed all of Plaintiff's claims.

CONCLUSION

The District Court erred in finding that all possible negligence claims made by the plaintiff, necessarily relied upon professional negligence requiring expert testimony on causation, and therefore required a certificate of merit be filed. This honorable Court should reverse the District Court as to claims regarding negligence not directly involving professional negligence, and remand to allow for discovery to be conducted by the parties and for further proceedings.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Jacqueline Struck hereby requests oral argument on these issues.

FOR THE PLAINTIFF