IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-1228

**JACQUELINE STRUCK,
Plaintiff-Appellants,**

vs.

**MERCY HEALTH SERVICES, IOWA CORP. aka MERCY MEDICAL
CENTER, SIOUX CITY, RODNEY J. DEAN, M.D., ALBERT OKINE, P.A.
JEREMY J. VANDE ZANDE, M.D. ROBBIE L. ROBINSON, N.P. and
EILEEN MIDDLETON, P.A.,
Defendants-Appellees.**

APPEAL FROM THE WOODBURY COUNTY DISTRICT COURT

**THE HONORABLE ZACHARY HINDMAN
PRESIDING JUDGE**

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

**JOHN C. GRAY, IOWA #AT0002938
Heidman Law Firm, P.L.L.C.
1128 Historic Fourth Street
P.O. Box 3086
Sioux City, Iowa 51102-3086
(712) 255-8838 - telephone
(712) 258-6714 - telefax
E-mail: John.Gray@heidmanlaw.com**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the District Court correctly held that the Certificate of Merit affidavit requirements apply to all of Appellant’s causes of action against Appellees Dean, Okine, and Middleton.

Doe v. Cent. Iowa Health Sys., 766 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 2009)
Susie v. Family Health Care of Siouxland, P.L.C., 942 N.W.2d 333 (Iowa 2020)
Iowa Code § 147.140
Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

- II. Whether the District Court correctly held that Appellant failed to substantially comply with the Certificate of Merit affidavit requirements, such that dismissal of her causes of action against Appellees Dean, Okine, and Middleton was correct.

Iowa Code § 147.140
Iowa R. App. P. 6.907
Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.511

ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellees agree with Appellant that, as this case presents the application of existing legal principles, the Supreme Court should appropriately transfer it to the Court of Appeals. *See* Iowa. R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellees generally agree with Appellant's Statement of the Case. Appellees only wish to add that the Answer of Appellees' Dean, Okine, and Middleton was filed on February 19, 2020. Appellant had sixty (60) days from the date of Appellees' Answer, or until April 19, 2020, to provide Appellees with a Certificate of Merit Affidavit, pursuant to Iowa Code § 147.140. On May 12, 2020, after Appellant failed to meet this deadline, Appellees moved to dismiss for failure to file a Certificate of Merit.

Furthermore, while Appellees do agree that the timeframe surrounding the filing of the Petition, Appellees' Answer, and Appellees' Motion to Dismiss coincided with the "then developing pandemic," Appellee does not concede that the pandemic played a role in "limit[ing] discovery," as Appellant seems to allege. *See* Appellant's Brief at 5. A review of the court filings in this case shows that all parties, including Appellant, were full participants in this action, despite any complications caused by COVID-19. For instance, on April 3, 2020, with the "then developing pandemic" in full swing, Appellant filed a motion and proposed order to grant

additional time to serve one of the named Defendants. *See generally* App. 25. Accordingly, the pandemic cannot serve as an excuse for Appellant's failure to comply with Iowa Code 147.140 and any suggestion to the contrary in Appellant's Statement of the Case should be rejected by the Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant filed her petition on January 24, 2020. App. 1. In her petition, Struck alleges that she was admitted to Mercy Health Center on January 18, 2018. App. 4. Struck further alleges that, as a result of the alleged negligence of the Defendants, including Appellees Dean, Okine, and Middleton, in the provision of health care services to her, she was injured as a result of a slip and fall on January 25, 2018. App. 5–6.

In her petition, Struck alleged a single count of negligence against all named Defendants. App. 5–6. However, as noted by the District Court, a closer read of her allegations show that she made two categories of negligence claims. App. 68. The first category of claims were those of professional negligence. App. 68. Plaintiff alleged that all Defendants failed to use the proper care, skill, and knowledge ordinarily possessed by medical professionals and that their treatment of Struck violated the acceptable standard of care. The second category of allegations made by Struck was that Defendant Mercy was negligent in its hiring and retention of staff,

all of whom were responsible for Struck's care, treatment, and resultant fall and injuries. App. 68.

On May 12, 2020, Appellees Dean, Okine, and Middleton filed a joint motion to dismiss all claims against them on the grounds that Struck failed to comply with Iowa's Certificate of Merit affidavit requirement. Iowa Code § 147.140. App. 46. The relevant statute provides that, within sixty (60) days of a defendant's answer, a plaintiff must file an affidavit "signed by an expert witness with respect to the issue of standard of care and an alleged breach of the standard of care." Iowa Code § 147.140(1)(a). Where a plaintiff fails to substantially comply with the Certificate of Merit requirements the result, upon motion by the relevant defendant, is "dismissal with prejudice of each cause of action as to which expert witness testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case." Iowa Code § 147.140(6).

A hearing on the motions to dismiss was held on June 12, 2020. App. 58. Struck, in addition to reasserting arguments based on when the sixty (60)-day period begins to run and her request for an extension of the deadline, asserted for the first time that her negligent hiring and retention claims against Defendant Mercy did not fall within the category of claims for which a Certificate of Merit affidavit is required, pursuant to Iowa Code § 147.140. App. 60–61.

On August 22, 2020, the District Court ruled in favor of Defendants, granting each motion to dismiss in its entirety. App. 95. The court determined that all of

Struck's claims were subject to Iowa Code § 147.140 and that her failure to "substantially comply" with the statute proved fatal. App. 95. On appeal, Struck admits that, with respect to what she concedes are professional negligence claims, dismissal pursuant to Iowa Code § 147.140 was proper. ["The District Court *should have dismissed the professional negligence claims, based on § 147.140, only and allowed [her other claims] to continue.*" Appellant's Brief at 12 (emphasis added).] As noted by the District Court, with respect to Appellees Dean, Okine, and Middleton, the claims asserted by Struck are plainly professional negligence claims. App. 78. There are no claims made by Appellant in her petition against Appellees which are not professional negligence claims.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Correctly Found that all Claims Against These Appellees are Professional Negligence Claims

A. Preservation of Error

Appellees agree that the issue of whether Appellant's claims were professional negligence claims such that compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140 was required was preserved for appellate review.

B. Scope of Review

Appellees agree that an appellate court's scope of review is for correction of errors at law and that the reviewing court is bound by the District Court's factual

finding which are supported by substantial evidence. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.907 (setting forth proper standard for appellate review).

C. All claims against these Appellees are professional negligence claims.

On May 5, 2017 then Governor of Iowa Terry Branstad signed into law a bill that reformed medical malpractice laws in the State of Iowa. Among the statutory reforms were a newly amended Section 147.139 and new statutes Section 147.136A and Section 147.140. All three statutory reforms took effect on July 1, 2017. All three sections applied to causes of action that accrued after July 1, 2017. Section 147.140 is but one part of the statutory reform of medical malpractice laws enacted by the Iowa legislature in 2017 and it references the new expert witness requirements of Section 147.139.

Iowa Code § 147.140(1) provides:

147.140 Expert witness – Certificate of Merit Affidavit.

1. a. In any action of personal injury or wrongful death against a health care provider based upon the alleged negligence in the practice of that profession or occupation or in patient care, which includes a cause of action for which expert testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case, the Plaintiff shall, prior to the commencement of discovery in the case and within sixty days of the Defendant's answer, serve upon the Defendant a Certificate of Merit signed by an expert witness and respect to the issue of standard of care and an alleged breach of the standard of care. The expert witness must meet the qualifying standards of section 147.139.

b. A Certificate of Merit Affidavit must be signed by the expert witness and certify the purpose for calling the expert witness by providing under the oath of the expert witness all of the following:

(1) The expert witness's statement of familiarity with the applicable standard of care.

(2) The expert witness's statement that the standard of care was breached by the health care provider named in the petition.

c. A Plaintiff shall serve a separate Certificate of Merit Affidavit on each Defendant named in the Petition.

The statute also provides the consequence for failure to serve a Certificate of Merit Affidavit: "Failure to substantially comply with § 1 shall result, upon motion, in dismissal with prejudice of each cause of action as to which expert witness testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case." Iowa Code § 147.140(6).

Subsection 1(a) identifies the elements which are required for the Certificate of Merit statute to apply: (1) "action[s] for personal injury or wrongful death," (2) "against a health care provider," (3) "based upon the alleged negligence in the practice of that profession," and (4) the cause of action is one "for which expert testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case." Iowa Code § 147.140(1)(a). "A prima facie case of medical negligence requires plaintiff to establish the applicable standard of care, a violation of that standard, and a causal relationship between the violation and the injury." *Susie v. Family Health Care of Siouxland, P.L.C.*, 942 N.W.2d 333, 337 (Iowa 2020). Proving the standard of care and breach

of that standard requires expert testimony when the causal connection “is not within the knowledge and experience of an ordinary layperson.” *Doe v. Cent. Iowa Health Sys.*, 766 N.W.2d 787, 793 (Iowa 2009).

In her Petition, Struck alleges that Dean, Okine, and Middleton provided health care services to Struck, thereby establishing a physician-patient relationship between themselves and Struck. App. 4. As a result of that relationship, Struck alleges that Appellees owed a duty to her “to possess and use the care, skill and knowledge ordinarily possessed and used under circumstances [sic] by other members of their profession engaged in similar practice.” App. 4. Struck further alleges that she slipped and fell on January 25, 2018, during her hospital stay at Mercy, and said slip and fall was the result, at least in part, of medications administered to her by Defendants. App. 5. Struck then alleged, in the sole count of her Petition, that the “*professional negligence*” of Dean, Okine, Middleton and other named Defendants violated “*the standard of care*” and resulted in her damages. App. 5. Any claims that negligent hiring or retention resulted in Struck’s slip and fall do not apply to Dean, Okine, and Middleton. App. 5.

As is clear from the face of her allegations, each of Struck’s claims against Dean, Okine, and Middleton seek to recover (1) for personal injury, (2) against a health care provider, (3) based on the alleged negligent practice of medicine, (4) for which expert testimony is needed to establish a prima facie case. *See Iowa Code §*

147.140(1)(a). With respect to these claims of professional negligence, the Certificate of Merit requirements undoubtedly apply. What is also beyond doubt is that Appellant did not substantially comply with Certificate of Merit requirements—she admits as much in her proof brief. Accordingly, the District Court properly concluded that the Certificate of Merit requirements applied to Struck’s claims against Dean, Okine, and Middleton and that she failed to comply with said requirements, making dismissal with prejudice of her action against Dean, Okine, and Middleton the proper and statutorily compelled remedy. Judge Hindman’s Order of August 22, 2020 granting Appellees’ Motion to Dismiss should be affirmed.

II. Because all Claims Against These Appellees are Professional Negligence Claims, the District Court Correctly Dismissed Appellant’s Claims for her Failure to Substantially Comply with Iowa Code § 147.140.

A. Preservation of Error

Appellees agree that the issue of whether Appellant failed to substantially comply with Iowa Code § 147.140 was preserved for appellate review. However, to the extent that Appellant concedes that her claim against Dean, Okine, and Middleton sounds in professional negligence and that her professional negligence actions were properly dismissed pursuant to her failure to comply with Iowa Code § 147.140, such facts should be treated as conclusively established for purposes of appellate review. *See* Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.511 (admitted matters treated as conclusively established for purposes of pending action).

B. Scope of Review

Appellees agree that an appellate court's scope of review is for correction of errors at law and that the reviewing court is bound by the District Court's factual finding which are supported by substantial evidence. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.907 (setting forth proper standard for appellate review).

C. The District Court properly found, and Appellant concedes, that Appellant failed to substantially comply with the Certificate of Merit requirements, making dismissal of Appellant's case proper.

Upon determining that all of Plaintiffs claims were professional negligence claims such that Certificate of Merit requirements applied, the District Court next turned to whether Struck had substantially complied with said requirements or whether her failure to do so should result in required dismissal with prejudice of her claims. App. 91 (citing Iowa Code § 147.140(6)). The District Court ultimately rejected the arguments asserted by Appellant that she had substantially complied with Certificate of Merit requirements, making dismissal of her claims with prejudice the statutorily compelled remedy. App. 91–95.

On appeal, Appellant does not reassert those same substantial compliance arguments. In fact, Appellant concedes that “[t]he District Court *should have dismissed the professional negligence claims, based on § 147.140*” and contends that, because some of her claims were not professional negligence claims, they should have been allowed to proceed. Appellant's Brief at 12 (emphasis added).

As discussed above, Appellant’s claims against Appellees Dean, Okine, and Middleton contain allegations of only professional medical negligence. App. 5. Any potential liability for negligent hiring and retention resulting in Struck’s fall or any undeveloped claims of premises liability which should have been gleaned from Struck’s Petition—claims for which there is a colorable argument, as recognized but rejected by the District Court, that Certificate of Merit requirements would not apply—would not rest with Dean, Okine, and Middleton. *See* App. 5 (asserting negligent hiring and retention of staff claim solely against Appellee Mercy). As the District Court properly found, and as Appellant concedes, that she did not substantially comply with the requirements of Iowa Code § 147.140. That section applies to all professional negligence claims made against Dean, Okine, and Middleton. As Struck only asserts professional negligence claims against them, the District Court’s Order dismissing Appellant’s claims against Dean, Okine, and Middleton with prejudice was correct.

CONCLUSION

All of Appellant’s claims against Appellees Dean, Okine, and Middleton are professional negligence claims. Accordingly, Iowa Code § 147.140 applies. The District Court properly found, as Appellant concedes in her Proof Brief, that she failed to substantially comply with § 147.140—the compliance standard set forth by the statute. Iowa Code § 147.140(6). Accordingly, the remedy imposed for failure to

substantially comply with Certificate of Merit requirements, dismissal of Appellant's claims against Appellees Dean, Okine, and Middleton, with prejudice, was appropriately rendered by the District Court.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The Appellees-Defendants request that this case be submitted with oral argument.